IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE,) No. S256698
Plaintiff and Respondent,	
v.	SUPREME COURT FILED
JOSEPH GENTILE, JR.,) FEB 1 3 2029
Defendant and Appellant.	Jorge Navariete Clerk
	Deputy
T d Division and the training	T

Fourth District Court of Appeal, Division Two, Case Nos. E069088/E064822 Riverside County Superior Court Case No. INF1401840 Honorable Graham A. Cribbs, Judge Presiding

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Eric R. Larson, #185750 330 J Street, #609 San Diego, CA 92101 (619) 238-5575 Larson1001@yahoo.com

> Attorney for Defendant, Appellant, and Petitioner Joseph Gentile

By Appointment of The Supreme Court Of California

INTRODUCTION

This case has a somewhat complex procedural and factual history that is relevant to the issues under review before this Court. The evidence at appellant's trial showed that appellant Gentile, Saundra Roberts, and the victim were all together prior to the victim's death. The medical evidence revealed the victim was beaten to death with several weapons, including a golf club, a chair, and a beer bottle.

There were two different factual scenarios presented to the jury. The prosecution primarily argued appellant was the actual killer. On the other hand, appellant told police that a dispute arose over a rape allegation levied by Roberts against the victim, that appellant had punched the victim a few times, but that Roberts then began striking the victim with some sort of club or other weapon. Appellant stated that he took the weapon away from Roberts and threw it to the ground, but she retrieved it and resumed hitting the victim. Appellant said he took the weapon away from Roberts a second time, threw it to the ground again, asked her what she was doing, and left. Appellant denied ever striking the victim with a weapon.

Appellant's jury found him guilty of first degree murder, but found it not true that appellant personally used a weapon, suggesting the jury found appellant was not the actual killer. The Court of Appeal reversed appellant's first degree murder conviction pursuant to this Court's decision in *People v. Chiu* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 155 ("*Chiu*") because appellant's jury was alternatively instructed on a natural and probable consequences theory of liability based on his commission of the target crime of felony assault, and the instructional error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. (*People v. Gentile* (Feb. 27, 2017, E064822) [nonpub. opn.], pp. 2-3, 11-14 ("*Gentile I*"), as modified Mar. 22, 2017.)

After Senate Bill No. 1437 ("SB 1437") was passed by our Legislature, and while his appeal remained pending on several other issues the Court of Appeal left unresolved in the first appeal, appellant requested permission to file a supplemental letter brief seeking relief under SB 1437. The Court of Appeal denied appellant's request to file supplemental briefing. In its subsequent opinion filed November 15, 2018, the Court of Appeal noted that "when it becomes effective, [SB 1437] will eliminate liability for murder based on the natural and probable consequences doctrine," but explained it denied appellant's request because appellant "was, at a minimum, an active aider and abettor for which a reduction to second degree murder was appropriate, pursuant to *People v. Chiu* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 155, 166." (*People v. Gentile* (Nov. 15, 2018, E069088) [nonpub. opn.] ("*Gentile II*").)

This Court then granted review and transferred the case back to the Court of Appeal with directions "to vacate its decision and reconsider the cause in light of Senate Bill No. 1437 and the court's determination, in defendant's prior appeal, that it is probable the jury convicted defendant of murder on the theory that he aided and abetted Saundra Roberts in a target crime that, as a natural and probable consequence, resulted in her murder of the victim. (See *People v. Gentile* (Feb. 27, 2017, E064822) [nonpub. opn.], pp. 12-14.)" (S253197; 3/13/19 transfer order.)

Following transfer, the Court of Appeal filed a new opinion holding appellant was not entitled to relief because SB 1437 did not eliminate second degree murder liability under the natural and probable consequences doctrine, and because appellant suffered no prejudice based on the natural and probable consequences instruction given his jury since he was a direct or "active" aider and abettor. (People v. Gentile (May 30, 2019, E069088) [nonpub. opn.], pp. 12-18 ("Gentile III"), as modified Jun. 20, 2019.)

¹ This opinion was originally certified for publication by the Court of Appeal, but was later ordered depublished by this Court.

This Court should now hold the Court of Appeal's analysis of both of these issues was erroneous, the amendment to Penal Code section 188 by recently enacted Senate Bill SB 1437 eliminates second degree murder liability under the natural and probable consequences doctrine, and it was prejudicial error to instruct the jury in this case on natural and probable consequences as a theory of murder.

STATEMENT OF CASE

As noted in the above introduction and summary of the case, this case has a relatively complex and lengthy procedural history, much of which is also relevant to the issues currently under review before this Court. Some of the procedural history set forth in the Court of Appeal's most recent opinion is also incorrect. Appellant will set forth the pertinent portions of the procedural history of this case in detail below for purposes of both accuracy and completeness.

A jury previously found appellant guilty of first degree murder, while also finding it not true that appellant personally used a weapon in the offense. Upon direct appeal, appellant raised several arguments in support of a reversal of his first degree murder conviction, one of which was a claim of instructional error pursuant to this Court's decision in *People v. Chiu* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 155 ("*Chiu*").²

On February 27, 2017, the Court of Appeal filed an opinion reversing appellant's conviction in its entirety based on the *Chiu* error. (*People v. Gentile* (Feb. 27, 2017, E064822) [nonpub. opn.], pp. 11-15.) The Court of Appeal further stated that "[b]ecause remand for retrial is required due to that instructional error, we do not need to reach defendant's other

² Appellant's trial occurred more than one year after this Court's decision in *Chiu*, but there was no discussion of *Chiu* at his trial, and his jury was nevertheless instructed on a first degree murder theory under the natural and probable consequences doctrine.

points," and "[b]ecause retrial is required, we do not need to reach defendant's other claims of error." (*Id.* at pp. 11, 14.)

On March 13, 2017, the People filed a Petition for Rehearing, correctly noting that the appropriate remedy for the *Chiu* error was a limited reversal in which the People are given the option on remand of conducting a retrial or accepting a conviction of second degree murder. (See E064822, Attorney General 3/22/17 Pet. for Rehearing p. 4; *People v. Chiu, supra,* 59 Cal.4th at p. 168; see also E064822, AOB p. 32; ARB p. 8 [also requesting this same limited remedy for the *Chiu* error].)

On March 22, 2017, the Court of Appeal filed an Order Modifying Opinion And Denying Petition For Rehearing, with a Change In Judgment. The Order changed the prior disposition of the opinion for purposes of the *Chiu* error to now provide:

"The conviction for first degree murder is reversed. The matter is remanded for the People to decide whether to accept reduction of count 1 to second degree murder, or to retry defendant for first degree murder under theories other than natural and probable consequences." (*People v. Gentile* (Mar. 22, 2017, E064822) [nonpub. opn.], order modifying opinion and denying rehearing, p. 1.)

On March 23, 2017, appellant filed a Petition for Rehearing, urging that in light of the change in disposition and the limited reversal required under *Chiu*, it was now appropriate and necessary to consider appellant's remaining contentions on appeal, which arguably entitled him to a complete reversal of his conviction. (E064822, Appellant 3/23/17 Pet. for Rehearing.)

On March 30, 2017, the Court of Appeal filed an Order denying appellant's Petition for Rehearing. (E064822, 3/30/17 Order.)

Upon a remand to the Superior Court pursuant to *Chiu*, the prosecutor elected to accept a reduction in the offense to second degree murder rather than conduct a retrial, and appellant was resentenced to a term of 15 years to

life. Appellant then filed a second notice of appeal, raising on appeal the remaining issues left unresolved in his initial appeal. (*Gentile II, supra*, E069088, pp. 2-3.) In addition, on October 24, 2018, appellant filed a request to allow supplemental briefing on the applicability of recently enacted SB 1437 to this case, and also submitted a supplemental brief in conjunction with this request. On October 26, 2018, the Court of Appeal denied appellant's request to file a supplemental brief regarding SB 1437. (E069088, 10/26/18 Order.)

On November 15, 2018, the Court of Appeal filed its opinion, rejecting all of appellant's remaining issues, with the exception of ordering a modification to the court facilities assessments imposed. (*Gentile II*, *supra*, E069088.) Within a footnote, the Court of Appeal addressed appellant's request for relief under SB 1437 as follows:

"Prior to oral argument, defendant sought leave to file a supplemental brief to discuss whether Senate Bill 1437 applied to this case. That bill, when it becomes effective, will eliminate liability for murder based on the natural and probable consequences doctrine. (See § 188, subd. (a)(3), rev. eff. 1/1/19.) However, it does not preclude convictions for second degree murder where the defendant is an active aiderabettor. We denied defendant's request because he was, at a minimum, an active aider abettor, if not the actual killer, for which a reduction to second degree murder was appropriate, pursuant to *People v. Chiu* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 155, 166." (*Gentile II, supra*, E069088, p. 3, fn. 2.)

Appellant then filed a petition for review raising all five of the issues (other than the court facilities assessment issue) rejected in *Gentile II*, and further sought review on appellant's entitlement to relief under SB 1437. (S253197, Pet. Rvw.)

On March 13, 2019, in Case No. S253197, this Court granted review and transferred the matter back to the Court of Appeal "with directions to vacate its decision and reconsider the cause in light of Senate Bill No. 1437

and the court's determination, in defendant's prior appeal, that it is probable the jury convicted defendant of murder on the theory that he aided and abetted Saundra Roberts in a target crime that, as a natural and probable consequence, resulted in her murder of the victim. (See *People v. Gentile* (Feb. 27, 2017, E064822) [nonpub. opn.], pp. 12-14.)" (S253197, 3/13/19 grant of review and transfer order.)

On May 30, 2019, the Court of Appeal filed a new opinion. (*Gentile III, supra*, E069088.) In this opinion, the Court of Appeal declined to decide the issue of whether SB 1437 applies retroactively to cases not yet final on appeal under *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740, and instead opted to address the issue of appellant's entitlement to relief under this new law on the merits. (*Id.* at p. 18.) On the merits, the Court of Appeal held appellant was not entitled to relief because SB 1437 did not eliminate second degree murder liability under the natural and probable consequences doctrine, and because appellant suffered no prejudice based on the natural and probable consequences instruction given his jury since he was a direct or "active" aider and abettor.³ (*Id.* at pp. 12-18.)

On June 13, 2019, appellant filed a petition for rehearing on the grounds that: 1) the May 30, 2019 opinion erroneously concluded SB 1437

³ In its discussion of the procedural history of this case within this opinion, the Court of Appeal stated appellant's request to file a supplemental brief seeking relief under SB 1437 was filed after the Court's opinion in *Gentile II*, it was treated as a petition for rehearing, and it was denied as premature because SB 1437 would not go in effect until January 2019. (*Gentile III*, *supra*, E069088, p. 14.) This is not accurate. As set forth above, appellant's request to file a supplemental brief under SB 1437 was made prior to both oral argument and the opinion in *Gentile II*, and there was thus no need to treat this request as a petition for rehearing. The *Gentile II* opinion additionally stated appellant's request to file a supplemental brief was denied "because he was, at a minimum, an active aider and abettor, if not the actual killer, for which a reduction to second degree murder was appropriate, pursuant to [*Chiu*]." (*Gentile II*, *supra*, E069088, p. 3, fn. 2.)

did not eliminate second degree murder liability under the natural and probable consequences doctrine, and in reaching this conclusion erroneously analyzed revised Penal Code 189, subdivision (e), rather than revised Penal Code section 188, subdivision (a)(3); 2) the opinion misstated the procedural history of the case with respect to the SB 1437 issue; and 3) the new opinion omitted a discussion and resolution of the six other issues raised on appeal.

On June 20, 2019, the Court of Appeal issued an order modifying pages 17 and 18 of the opinion regarding the issue of prejudice, and denied rehearing. (*Gentile III, supra*, E069088, as modified 6/20/19 on denial of rehearing.)

Appellant then filed a petition for review, and this Court granted review on the following two issues: 1. Does the amendment to Penal Code section 188 by recently enacted Senate Bill No. 1437 eliminate second degree murder liability under the natural and probable consequences doctrine? 2. Was it prejudicial error to instruct the jury in this case on natural and probable consequences as a theory of murder? ⁴

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant adopts the factual background of appellant's trial as set forth in the Court of Appeal's opinion in *Gentile III.* (*Gentile III.* supra, E069088, pp. 3-11.)

Appellant additionally supplements this summary of the evidence at appellant's trial with the following Statement of Facts, which also includes citations to the record.⁵

⁴ This Court originally granted review on a third issue, namely, does Senate Bill No. 1437 apply retroactively to cases not yet final on appeal? By subsequent order filed October 30, 2019, this Court limited review and briefing to the above two issues.

⁵ Unless otherwise noted, the citations to the Reporter's and Clerk's Transcripts within this brief are to the record on appeal in appellant's first appeal in Case No. E064822, which contains the transcripts from his trial.

Saundra Roberts was given use immunity regarding her testimony in this case. (2 R.T. pp. 236-237.) Roberts was previously married to appellant. (2 R.T. p. 238.) Roberts testified that in June of 2014, she was dating Stephen Gardner, and had been friends with Guillermo "Bill" Saavedra for about a year. (2 R.T. pp. 237-238, 256; see also 3 R.T. pp. 586, 597.) Saavedra both worked security and lived inside a restaurant called La Casita, and Roberts would sometimes stay there when she was fighting with her boyfriend Gardner. (2 R.T. pp. 237-240, 256, 295.)

Roberts testified that on Friday, June 20, 2014,⁶ she had decided to move from Gardner's residence into the restaurant, and she called appellant for help with her move. Appellant sent a young man from his work with a truck to pick up both Roberts and her belongings from Gardner's apartment and move her into the restaurant. (2 R.T. pp. 240-244, 246-248, 301.)

Roberts was drinking that day. (2 R.T. p. 255.) Roberts testified that at one point that day appellant called her and she made plans to meet with him. (2 R.T. pp. 252-256.) She and appellant had also been talking on the phone because they had plans to go to Charlotte Sullivan's house in San Diego for the Fourth of July weekend. (2 R.T. pp. 260-261.) Saavedra was also invited to go on this trip. (2 R.T. p. 293.)

Roberts had previously told Saavedra that appellant was a former Marine. (2 R.T. pp. 254, 262-263.) After she returned to the restaurant, appellant called Roberts. (2 R.T. pp. 257, 261-263.) Saavedra, who was also a former Marine, said he wanted to meet appellant and asked to speak to him on the phone. (2 R.T. pp. 255-256, 261-264.) Saavedra then invited appellant over to the restaurant. (2 R.T. pp. 264-266, 300, 310-311.)

⁶ Although the record contains some inconsistencies and Roberts sometimes testified the events at issue occurred on the night of Friday June 20 and early morning of Saturday June 21, the record as a whole indicates the events occurred on Saturday night June 21 and Sunday morning June 22. (See, e.g., 2 R.T. pp. 323-324.)

Edward Cordero testified he lived with and was friends with appellant, and he gave appellant a ride to the La Casita restaurant to meet Roberts. (1 R.T. pp. 211-217.)

Roberts testified that when appellant arrived, Saavedra was not there and the restaurant was locked, so Roberts and appellant walked to a store to purchase some alcohol. While doing that, they got into an argument. (2 R.T. pp. 266-267, 310, 312-313.) Roberts returned to the restaurant alone, but Saavedra, who had come back to the restaurant while she was gone, said he wanted to meet appellant, so she retrieved appellant and returned with him to the restaurant. (2 R.T. p. 314.)

Roberts, Saavedra, and appellant then talked and drank beer and martinis for at least three or four hours. (2 R.T. pp. 268-270, 314.) At one point while discussing the military and Vietnam, appellant and Saavedra had a "friendly argument," but "then it went back to laughing and Semper Fi and everything was cool." (2 R.T. pp. 270-271, 314-315.) Roberts went out and purchased more beer. (2 R.T. pp. 270-272, 314.) When she returned, their voices were elevated a little bit, but the conversation was still friendly and there was no violence. (2 R.T. pp. 272-273, 315, 322-323.) Roberts testified she began to feel like a "third wheel," and also felt like she had drunk too much, so she left the restaurant in order to go to sleep at a homeless encampment about a block away. (2 R.T. pp. 273-274, 315.)

Sylvia Sicre testified that in June of 2014, she worked as the general manager of the Royal Plaza Inn. (2 R.T. pp. 432-433.) Sicre testified that in the early morning hours of June 22, 2014, appellant, who was a "regular" at the hotel, approached the hotel office and tried to rent a room. However, Sicre refused to rent appellant a room that night because "he didn't look right." (2 R.T. pp. 437-440.) Surveillance video captured an image of appellant approaching the hotel office at around 1:04 a.m. on June 22,

2014, pressing the buzzer repeatedly, waving his hands towards Sicre, and waiting. (2 R.T. pp. 436-439, 444.)

Roberts testified she woke up at around 1:00 or 1:30 a.m., and decided to go buy more beer at the nearby AM/PM store. (2 R.T. pp. 274-275.) After she exited the store, she saw appellant across the street walking through the parking lot of the Royal Plaza Inn. (2 R.T. pp. 275-276.) She approached him on her bike. (2 R.T. pp. 276-277.) Appellant looked tired and drunk, appellant told her he had been trying to get a room at the hotel, and said he wanted to go home. (2 R.T. pp. 277-279.) Appellant did not have his phone with him. (2 R.T. p. 279.) Additionally, it appeared that appellant's face and shirt were soaking wet, as if he had jumped or fallen into the swimming pool. (2 R.T. pp. 279-280, 316.) Appellant was not wearing shoes. (2 R.T. p. 322.)

Upon being shown a transcript of her prior recorded statements to investigators, Roberts testified she told investigators that appellant appeared drunk, appellant said something about losing his phone, said he had gotten into a really bad fight, and said he needed a shirt and some shoes. (2 R.T. pp. 316-319.) Appellant also said he "might have killed a man" and he had "hurt him pretty bad." (2 R.T. pp. 318-319, 324.) Roberts recalled telling investigators she thought she saw mud or blood on appellant, and that she smelled blood. (2 R.T. pp. 320-321.) In the past, she had seen appellant get violent after drinking. (2 R.T. p. 323.)

Roberts testified that after seeing appellant by the pool, she called Gardner and asked him to bring over a shirt. (2 R.T. pp. 279-280.) She and appellant then met Gardner at a nearby laundromat. (2 R.T. pp. 280-282.) Gardner provided appellant a "tie-dye" T-shirt. (2 R.T. p. 328.) Roberts testified she then left. (2 R.T. pp. 282-285.)

Gardner testified Roberts called him, sounded panicked, and asked him to bring shorts, a shirt, and socks to the laundromat. (2 R.T. pp. 361-

364.) When he got there, he was surprised to find Roberts with appellant. (2 R.T. pp. 363-366.) Gardner testified appellant appeared to be wet, had some redness on his hands, and "appeared mean enough." (2 R.T. p. 367.) Gardner gave appellant a tie-dye shirt, a pair of shorts, and one sock, and then left. (2 R.T. pp. 366-367.)

Surveillance video captured an image of Roberts on her bicycle in front of the laundromat at 1:15 a.m. on June 22, 2014. (2 R.T. pp. 286-288.) The video also captured images of her with Gardner, of her with appellant and Gardner, and of appellant holding something in his hands, which Roberts testified were the clothes Gardner brought. (2 R.T. pp. 289-292, 368-371.)

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