# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

### THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA.

Case No. S256698

Plaintiff and Respondent,

 $\mathbf{v}$ .

### JOSEPH ROBERT GENTILE, JR.,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth Appellate District Division Two, Case No. INF1401840 Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. E069088 The Honorable Graham Anderson Cribbs, Judge

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Finally, the prosecutor's comments during closing argument made clear that whether appellant was guilty of first degree murder as opposed to second degree murder hinged on whether he committed the murder willfully, deliberately, and with premeditation. (See *People v. Canizales* (2019) 7 Cal.5th 591, 613 [court may consider arguments of counsel in assessing prejudicial

effect of instructional error]; *People v. Hughes* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 287, 341 [same].) During closing argument, the prosecutor said, "The issue that you have to decide is not the who, but was it first degree or second degree murder. Was this premeditated and deliberate and willful." (4 RT 755.) The prosecutor argued that appellant had murdered Saavedra willfully, deliberately, and with premeditation because he saw Saavedra as "competition" for Roberts and decided to "take him out." (4 RT 756–757.) In rebuttal, the prosecutor emphasized again that, "The issue that you have to decide was it first or second. The People's theory, it was first degree murder." (4 RT 792.) The jury was thus fully aware that, to convict appellant of first degree murder as it did, it first had to find that he committed the murder willfully, deliberately, and with premeditation.

The trial court's instructions, taken together with the jury's first degree murder verdict, establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury did not convict appellant based on the natural and probable consequences doctrine, but of willful, deliberate, and premeditated murder—and, hence, murder with malice aforethought. Indeed, appellant's trial counsel acknowledged in a hearing on appellant's post-verdict motion for a new trial that appellant had been "convicted of first degree murder under the theory of premeditation and deliberation." (4 RT 832.) Appellant

was not prejudiced by the natural and probable consequences instruction.<sup>5</sup>

## B. Substantial Evidence Showed That Appellant Murdered Saavedra with Deliberation and Premeditation

The jury's finding of intent and premeditation was fully consistent with the trial evidence, which substantially showed that appellant was guilty of Saavedra's deliberate and premeditated murder as a direct perpetrator, a direct aider and abettor, or both. It was undisputed that appellant beat Saavedra; he admitted punching Saavedra multiple times, sending him to the floor, and to possibly kicking him. (1 CT 198–199, 206, 214, 227.) He claimed he left the beating early, but—and as shown by the bloody footprint at the scene, as well as the bloody sock found in the area appellant had traversed following the murder—he was there long enough to get Saavedra's blood on him.<sup>6</sup> (See 4 RT

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Indeed, because the instructions in this case did not permit a first degree murder conviction without a finding that appellant had acted willfully, deliberately, and with premeditation in committing murder, there was no *Chiu* error in the first place. (See *Stevenson*, *supra*, 25 Cal.App.5th at pp. 983–984 [no *Chiu* error where jury was instructed it had to find each defendant had committed murder willfully, deliberately, and with premeditation in order to convict that particular defendant of first degree murder].) The People's concession otherwise in the court of appeal, and that court's finding of *Chiu* error, was regretfully in error.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> That bloody sock had Saavedra's DNA on it to a statistical frequency of one in quintillions, and appellant's DNA to a (continued...)

755 [prosecutor's closing argument that appellant "didn't just leave," but was "there long enough to have the blood of the victim on him"].) He claimed to investigators he had walked straight home upon leaving the beating, but surveillance cameras caught him wandering the parking lot of the Royal Plaza Inn and a nearby laundromat later the evening of the murder. (Gentile III, supra, E069088, pp. 4–5; 1 CT 218–221; 2 RT 286–287, 369, 437– 438, 440–441, 444.) There was "something wrong" with him: he was drunk and slurring, and he appeared wet, as if he had just been in a pool, prompting a "panicked" call from Roberts to Steve Gardner, asking for a change of clothes for appellant. (Gentile *III*, pp. 4–5; 2 RT 289–290, 361–365, 367–369, 373–374, 378, 380– 381 432, 437–440, 444, 446–447.) His hands, particularly his knuckles, were noticeably red and swollen. (Gentile III, pp. 4–5; 2 RT 367, 374–375. 377, 401.) Saavedra's blunt force injuries were multiple and extensive. (Gentile III, p. 5; 3 RT 566–579.) Thus, even discounting Roberts' trial testimony that she had left appellant and Saavedra alone the night of the murder and that appellant had told her in the parking lot afterwards that he "might have killed" him (Gentile III, p. 9; 2 RT 318–319, 324), the evidence showed—and a reasonable juror could have found—that appellant did not merely hit Saavedra a few times and then leave the scene as he had claimed, but had beat him in a substantial

<sup>(...</sup>continued)

statistical frequency of one in 1,300. (*Gentile III*, supra, E069088, p. 5; 3 RT 507–513.)

and prolonged manner consistent with deliberation and premeditation.

The jury, moreover, was instructed that there could be more than one cause of death and that an act or omission "causes death if the death is the direct, natural, and probable consequence of [it] and the death would not have happened without the act or omission." (2 CT 272, 296; 4 RT 710-711, 725; see CALCRIM Nos. 240, 520.) A forensic pathologist testified that Saavedra had been killed by a multiple-blunt-force-impact beating. (Gentile III, supra, E069088, p. 5; 3 RT 583, 586–589.) While the pathologist noted that certain injuries were more likely to have been caused by an instrument (such as Saavedra's fractured scapulae, clavicle, and top left anterior rib), she testified that other internal injuries, such as his multiple broken ribs and fractured vertebrae, could have been inflicted without the use of a weapon or instrument. (3 RT 577–581.) There was no testimony suggesting that a beating by instrument was the sole cause of or otherwise indispensable to the killing; to the contrary, the pathologist testified that Saavedra had been killed by multiple blunt force injuries delivered by fist or instrument. (3 RT 583– 586.) Hence a reasonable juror could have credited appellant's claim that he did not use an instrument in beating Saavedra (hence the jury's not true finding on the dangerous and deadly weapon sentence enhancement allegation) and yet found that he, acting alongside someone else (such as Roberts), deliberately and with premeditation administered a substantial and prolonged beating by fist or foot that proximately caused Saavedra's

death—and as such was a direct perpetrator to the murder, a direct aider and abettor to it, or both.<sup>7</sup>

Furthermore, the jury could have reasonably credited Roberts' testimony and found, as her testimony had suggested and as the prosecution had argued at trial, that appellant was the sole perpetrator of Saavedra's premeditated murder, notwithstanding its not true finding on the deadly or dangerous weapon sentencing enhancement. (See 4 RT 757 [prosecutor's closing argument that appellant intentionally beat Saavedra to death while alone with him because he saw Saavedra as "competition" for Roberts]; 1 CT 249 [not true sentence enhancement allegation finding].) This is because that not true finding may have been the product of compromise, lenity, or mistake. (See *People v. Gonzalez* (2018) 5 Cal.5th 186, 207

(Gentile III, supra, E069088, p. 17.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> As the court of appeal in this case stated in rejecting appellant's claim for relief under Senate Bill No. 1437:

At a minimum . . . [appellant] was a direct or active aider and abettor. He actually delivered serious blows with his fists and feet to the victim at the urging of Roberts, and in one statement expressed fear he may have killed the victim. His hands were swollen when he arrived in Imperial Beach, consistent with a beating by fists. Even if the jury believed [appellant's] testimony—that after his own beating of the victim he left the scene when Roberts began beating the victim with a deadly or dangerous weapon—the killing would have been the result of defendant's aggravated assault committed while directly aiding and abetting Roberts' assault with a deadly weapon.

["Where a jury's findings are irreconcilable, we normally attribute such tensions to compromise, lenity, or mistake, and give effect to all of the jury's findings"]; *People v. Avila* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 491, 600 ["If a not true finding of an enhancement allegation is inconsistent with a conviction of the substantive offense, effect is given to both"].) The evidence thus substantially showed in multiple respects that appellant, acting as a direct perpetrator, a direct aider or abettor, or both, murdered Saavedra with intent and premeditation—and, therefore, malice aforethought.

## C. Appellant's Contentions Do Not Raise a Reasonable Doubt as to the Harmlessness of the Error

Appellant sets forth a number of contentions that he claims cut against a finding of harmlessness. (Opening Brief on the Merits (OBM) 35–40.) None reasonably suggest jury reliance on the natural and probable consequences doctrine.

Appellant contends, first, that the court of appeal' finding of prejudice from the alleged *Chiu* error necessarily establishes prejudice for purposes of Senate Bill No. 1437, as that prejudice finding establishes that the jury may have relied on the natural and probable consequences doctrine. (OBM 35–37.) He also contends that "nothing in any of the jury's verdicts . . . show the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." (OBM 37.) However, neither the parties before the court of appeal nor that court addressed the trial court's instruction to the jury, pursuant to CALCRIM No. 521, that the jury could not find appellant guilty of first degree murder without a finding that he had

committed the murder willfully, deliberately, and with premeditation. That instruction—which appellant does not address in his opening brief—establishes beyond any doubt that the jury found that appellant committed the murder willfully, deliberately, and with premeditation. The jury did not rely on the natural and probable consequences doctrine. (Section II.A, *ante.*)

Appellant contends that the jury's question to the court, submitted during deliberations, regarding whether fists can be considered a "deadly weapon" indicates it was contemplating the natural and probable consequences doctrine, given that the target offense identified was that of assault with a deadly weapon. (OBM 37–38; 1 CT 235; 2 CT 289–292; 4 RT 719–722.) But it is unlikely, if not implausible, that the jury was considering that question in connection with the natural and probable consequences doctrine. That doctrine, if applied, would have entailed appellant directly aiding and abetting another person—i.e., a direct perpetrator—in committing assault with a deadly weapon, the natural and probable consequence of which was Saavedra's murder. For the jury to consider appellant's fists as a "deadly weapon" for purposes of the target offense of assault, in contrast, would have necessitated appellant himself acting as a direct perpetrator in that assault, rendering the doctrine inapposite. Furthermore, and in any event, there is another, far more likely explanation for the jury's question, which was simply to determine whether appellant's fists constituted a deadly weapon for purposes of the deadly or dangerous weapon sentence

enhancement allegation. In keeping with the trial court's answer that fists do not constitute a deadly weapon, that sentence enhancement allegation was later found not true by the jury. (1 CT 235, 249; 4 RT 820.)

Appellant claims the prosecutor's references during closing argument to his statements to the police, as well as the jury's request during deliberations for a copy of those statements, suggest jury reliance on the natural and probable consequences doctrine. (OBM 38–40.) But the prosecutor did not reference those statements solely in the context of that doctrine, and that doctrine in any event was not central to the prosecution's principal theories of guilt at trial. The prosecutor's primary theory was that appellant was the sole direct perpetrator of Saavedra's premeditated murder, beating Saavedra to death because he viewed him as "competition" for Roberts and had "every motive to make sure [Saavedra] was no longer in [Roberts's] life." (4 RT 746, 753, 755–757; see 4 RT 771 [defense counsel's argument that "the theory . . . of the People doesn't hold up that my client committed this cold-blooded murder in a fit of rage because he was jealous of [Saavedra]"].) The prosecutor argued that Roberts's testimony pertinent to this theory—that Roberts had left appellant and Saavedra alone at the La Casita restaurant; that she saw appellant a few hours later in the parking lot of the Royal Plaza Inn, soaking wet as if he had just been in a pool; and that appellant told her that he had "gotten . . . in a really bad fight" with Saavedra and "might have killed" him—was credible because it "match[ed] up with the

objective evidence" at trial, including, in particular, the surveillance videotapes showing appellant and Roberts in the parking lot following the murder. (4 RT 745.) In contrast, during his rebuttal argument, the prosecutor encouraged the jury to examine appellant's statements to the police (in which appellant claimed he hit Saavedra a few times and then went straight home after being unable to stop Roberts from beating him with the golf club) because those statements were all "lies" that were "discounted by the objective evidence in this case." (4 RT 792.)8

The prosecutor also argued that, even if appellant had not acted with an express intent to kill, he nonetheless murdered Saavedra with implied malice because he had, acting with a conscious disregard for human life, deliberately beat Saavedra, the natural and probable consequences of which were dangerous to human life. (See 2 CT 295–296 [trial court's jury instruction regarding implied malice]; 4 RT 754–755 [prosecutor's implied malice argument].) In connection with that particular theory, the prosecutor argued that appellant's statements—in which he not only placed himself at the scene, but admitted to beating Saavedra—established implied malice, particularly in light of other evidence indicating that appellant was at the beating for a sustained period of time. (4 RT 754–755.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The prosecutor argued, "Ladies and gentlemen, I would ask for you to have that entire statement of the defendant read to you if you can because in it are an air of contradiction, lies. Everything is discounted by the objective evidence in this case." (4 RT 792.)

Finally, the prosecutor also argued that appellant's statements, even if believed, showed that he had aided and abetted Saavedra's murder by not stopping Roberts from killing Saavedra with the golf club even though appellant had instigated the beating, was alongside Roberts when she beat Saavedra with the golf club, was fully aware of Roberts's intent to kill Saavedra, and had the power or the ability to stop or prevent it. (4 RT 757– 758.) While unclear, this argument appears more consistent with direct aider and abettor liability than liability under the natural and probable consequences doctrine, as its focal point is not appellant's aiding and abetting the target offense of assault with a deadly weapon, but his failure to stop or otherwise withdraw from an imminent murder he knew would occur as a result of the beating he had instigated. (See 4 RT 758 [prosecutor's argument that appellant "aided and abetted Saundra Roberts by not . . . stopping this beating," despite "set[ting] the chain of events in motion" and "know[ing] exactly what [she] is going to do"]; 2 CT 286–287 [jury instruction on direct aider and abettor liability]; CALCRIM No. 401 [withdrawing from offense directly aided and abetted requires "do[ing] everything reasonably within his or her power to prevent the crime from being committed"].) Regardless, even if this argument somehow alluded to the natural and probable consequences doctrine—a phrase the prosecutor did not mention in closing—it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, given the evidence at trial and the jury's finding, inherent to its first degree murder verdict, that appellant committed deliberate and premeditated murder. (Sections II.A–B, ante.)

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